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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON
AT TACOMA

MICHAEL TREECE and KRISTEN A. CASE NO. 11-5981 RJB
TREECE,
ORDER ON DEFENDANTS’
Plaintiffs, MOTION TO DISMISS AND ON
PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR

V. LEAVE TO AMEND THE
COMPLAINT

FIELDSTON MORTGAGE COMPANY;
MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC
REGISTRATION SYSTEM; WELLS
FARGO BANK, NA; FIELDSTONE
SERVICING CORP.; HSBC BANK
USA, NA; US BANK, NA; LITTON
LOAN SERVICING; CHASE BANK,
NA; OCWEN MORTGAGE COMPANY;
PACIFIC NORTHWEST TITLE CO. OF
WASHINGTON, INC.; and DOES 1-50,

Defendants.

This matter comes before the Court on Defatsl&itton Loan Servicing L.P. (“Litton”)
HSBC Bank USA, National Assation, as Indenture Trusteetbe Fieldstone Mortgage

Investment Trust, Series 2006-3 (“HSBC Banf€rroneously sued as HSBC Bank USA, NA),

Ocwen Loan Servicing (“Ocwen”) (erroneousheduas Ocwen Mortgage Company), Mortgage
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Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. (“MERSand Wells Fargo Bank, National Association,
as Master Servicer’s (“Wells Fargo”) (cetitively “moving Defendants”) Motion to Dismiss
Plaintiffs’ Complaint (Dkt. 10) and Plaintiffshotion for leave to amend their Complaint (Dkt
12). The Court has considered the pleadirigd fiegarding the motions, the remaining recorgd
and is fully advised.

Plaintiffs filed this actionpro se, seeking to stop foreclosion their property, asserting
that Defendants violated their federal rightsemithe Truth In Lending Act (“TILA”), 15 U.S.C,
8 1601 et seg. and the Real Estate Settlemerdad@dure Act (‘RESPA”), 12 U.S.C. § 26(G,
seg. Dkt. 1. Plaintiffs also maka state law claim to quiet titldd. For the reasons set forth
below, the moving Defendants’ Mon to Dismiss (Dkt. 10) shodlbe granted and the claims
asserted against them dismissed.

l. FACTSAND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Originally filed in PierceCounty, Washington Superi@ourt on October 28, 2011, the
Verified Complaint concerns a note secured biged of trust for the purchase of real property
commonly known as: 6313-6318 Btreet Court East, Tacoma&/ashington; Pierce County
Assessor’s parcel or account number: 04200611fYoferty”). Dkt. 1-1. The property is
located in Pierce @inty, Washingtonld.

According to the attachments to the Verifiédmplaint, on July 6, 2006, Plaintiff Michael
Treece, as borrower, signed an Adjustable Rate (“note”) in favor of Fieldstone Mortgage
Company, as lender, for a loan of $333,000 at tarest rate of 8.5% tpurchase the subject

property. Dkt. 1-1, at 22-26. In the note,.Mlreece promised to make monthly payments until
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the loan is paid in fullld., at 22. Mr. Treece acknowledged thatunderstood that Fieldstong
Mortgage Company may transfer the noite.

That same day, Mr. Treece, as borrower, etezta deed of trust granting Fieldstone
Mortgage Company a security interesthe property in exchange for the lodul., at 28. The
deed of trust named “Pacific Northwest Title Company” as trudteeat 29. MERS was
appointed as the “beneficidrgnd “nominee” for Fieldstone Mortgage Company and its
“successors and assigndd., at 29. Under the deed of trubty. Treece agreed to giving MER
the “right to foreclose and sellgtproperty” in the event he deféed in his obligations under tf
note and deed of trustd., at 30. The deed of trust further provides:

The note or a partial interest in the nfitegether with this security instrument)

can be sold one or more times withpubr notice to borrower. A sale might

result in a change in the entity (knoas the “loan servicer”) that collects

periodic payments due under the natel this security instrument.
Id., at 39. The Complaint provides that the note @eeld of trust were sold and “securitized i
a trust,” the “Fieldstone Mortge Investment Trust Seri@®06N3,” with moving Defendant
HSBC Bank USA, as Indentureuistee. Dkt. 1-1, at 14-15 he remaining moving Defendant
are loan servicers and MERS. Dkt. 10.

Defendants request that the Ciaiake judicial notice of (anBlaintiffs do not dispute)
documents recorded with the Pierce Countyifu Office that the loan was modified aroun
July 1, 2008 and for a second time in June of 2011. Dkt. 9, at 32-47.

B. ALLEGATIONSIN THE COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs’ Complaint contains multiple genegdlegations regarding ¢hnational home loan
industry. Dkt. 1-1. As it relates to their situation, the Complaint alléggedlaintiffs did not

receive various disclosures iormection with the July 2006 loaikt. 1-1, at 9-11. Plaintiffs

allege that the lender violated “rules” by “pagiPlaintiffs into a loan” without “reasonable

S
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basis for believing that there ardfstient funds to support the loanld., at 11. The Complain
further asserts that MERS does not have a beakfinterest in the note and so the “assignme
executed by MERS” is “illegal.1d., at 1-1, at 15. It assertsatithe Defendants “lack standing
to enforce the negotiable instrument” becabgy are not the real party in interefd., at 17.
Plaintiffs allege that the real fig of interest is the shareholdafthe trust, and “because no g
party represents a real party of interest, themmne party may enforce the promissory note.;
at 17. Plaintiffs reason that because theedt@ders can write off a debt, “the debt is
discharged.”ld. Accordingly, Plaintiffs seek declarayaelief that the deedf trust be held
null and void and that the note Beclared fully dischargedd., at 18. They seek injunctive
relief. that the Defendants be ordered to “gavell and fair accountingf all money received”
and they be required totten all money receivedld. Plaintiffs further seek a declaration tha
they are the rightful title holders and that all Defants have no “estate, right, title or interest
said property.”ld. Plaintiffs further seek any othedisf “as is necessary and appropriatéd:
C. PENDING MOTIONS

In the pending Motion to Dismiss, filed puesi to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12 (b)(6), Defendants
argue that: 1) the claims in the Complaisgerted against them should be dismissed becau
there are no allegations of wrongdgimade against them, 2) Pldiist contention of an invalid
assignment of the deed of trust by MERS to HS& (S because Plaintiffs agreed to designats
MERS as the lender’s beneficiary, 3) PldistiTILA claim should be dismissed because
Defendants were not involved in the loan oradion and the claim is barred by the statute of
limitations, 4) Plaintiffs’ RESPAlaim against these Defendants should be dismissed becal
they were not involved in the loan’s origirati and 5) Plaintiffs’ Conlpint fails to allege

sufficient facts to state a claim fquiet title against them. Dkt. 10
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Plaintiffs file a Response, @uing that the motion to dismissould not be granted becaust
further discovery regarding the moving Defendargtationship with Fieldstone Mortgage is
required. Dkt. 12. Plaintiffs argue that Defenidahave not given them any documentation ¢
valid assignment of the mortgafyem Fieldstone to any of themid. They argue that the note
and deed of trust have been improperly sepanakesh the note was securitized into the trust
Id. Plaintiffs reason, then, that]f[the deed of trust is held by one party and the note is helq
another party, there is no one party which legrclaim the the [sic] Plaintiffs’ property.Id., at
2-3. Plaintiffs argue that MERS does not haugeneficial interest in the note and so the
assignment executed by MERS is not valid. Plaintiffs request thahe Court take judicial
notice of the Congressional Oversitanel’s Report, dated November 16, 200d). Plaintiffs
argue that there “may be igsuof ‘robo-signing’” hereld., at 4-5. Plaintiffs argue that “Ocwe
Loan Servicing wants to take real property without offering any proof that might tend to sh
who holds a beneficial intereist the promissory note.1d., at 6. Plaintiffs ague that they have
requested documents from Ocwen through “QieaiWritten Requests,” and Ocwen “has fall
the produce any relevant materiald., at 8-9.

Defendants Reply, arguing that 1) Plaintiffjuest for the original promissory note does
not give rise to a viable cause of actimthuse Defendants are not required to produce the
original to foreclose, 2) Plaiifits’ arguments that MERS does rfidve a beneficial interest fail
as a matter of law, and 3) Plaintiffs fail topesd to the defects raisegigarding their TILA,
RESPA, and quiet title claims. Dkt. 13. Defendamppose allowing Plaintiffs leave to file an
amended complaint.d.

C. ORGANIZATION OF OPINION

A\1”4
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I by
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This opinion will address Defendants’ motion to dismiss pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12
as to each of the claims in conjunction wiaintiffs’ motion for leave to file an amended
complaint.

. DISCUSSION

A. FED.R.CIV.P. 12 (b)(6) MOTION TO DISMISS/LEAVE TO AMEND A
COMPLAINT - STANDARD

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a)(2) prasdhat a pleading must contain a “short ang
plain statement of the claim showithat the pleader is entitledtelief.” Under Fed. R. Civ. P

12 (b)(6), a complaint may be dismissed forltfea to state a claim upon which relief can be

granted.” Dismissal of a complaint may be baseaither the lack of a cognizable legal theqgry

or the absence of sufficient factieged under a cognizablegal theory.Balistreri v. Pacifica
Police Department, 901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990). Whaleomplaint attacked by a Rule
12(b)(6) motion to dismiss does not need detddetlal allegations, a plaintiff's obligation to
provide the grounds of his entitlemt to relief requires more than labels and conclusions, al
formulaic recitation of the element$ a cause of action will not ddell Atlantic Corp. v.
Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007internal citations omitted).

Accordingly, “[t]o survive a motion to dismisa,complaint must contain sufficient factual
matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a ckaimelief that is plausible on its face.Ashcroft v.

Igbal, 129 S.Ct. 1937, 1949 (2006if{ng Twombly, at 570). A claim has “facial plausibility”

(b)(6)

nd a

when the party seeking relief “pleads factual contieat allows the court to draw the reasonaple

inference that the defendantiable for the misconduct allegedld. First, “a court considering
a motion to dismiss can choose to begin by if@ng pleadings that, because they are no m
than conclusions, are not entitledthe assumption of truth.I'd., at 1950. Secondly, “[w]hen

there are well-pleaded factualegations, a court should asseltheir veracity and then

)
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determine whether they plausibly giveeito an entitlement to reliefld. “In sum, for a
complaint to survive a motion to dismiss, tlen-conclusory factual atent, and reasonable
inferences from that content, must be plausibly suggestive of aahitimg the pleader to
relief.” Mossv. U.S Secret Service, 572 F.3d 962, 969 (9th Cir. 2009).

If a claim is based on a proper legal theoryfhil$ to allege sufficient facts, the plaintiff
should be afforded the opportunity to amend the complaint before disni{&sadton v.

Roberts, 717 F.2d 1295, 1300 (9th Cir. 1983). If thail is not based on a proper legal theo
the claim should be dismissetd. “Dismissal without leave to amend is improper unless it i
clear, upon de novo review, thtae complaint could not beaved by any amendmentVioss v.
U.S Secret Service, 572 F.3d 962, 972 (9th Cir. 2009).

Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2) provides that “atganay amend its pleading only with the
opposing party's written consent or the courisde The court should freely give leave when
justice so requires.” “Five famts are taken into account to asséhe propriety of a motion for
leave to amend: bad faith, undue delay, pregidb the opposing party, futility of amendment
and whether the plaintiff has previously amenttelcomplaint. Futility alone can justify the
denial of a motion to amend.Johnson v. Buckley, 356 F.3d 1067, 1077 (9th Cir. 200#)érnal
guotations and citations omitted).

B. TILACLAIMS

Plaintiffs’ claim for rescission and or dages (to the extent they makes a claim for

damages), pursuant to TILA, should be dismisdgdder TILA and “Regulation Z” at 12 C.F.R.

§ 226.23:

(1) In a credit transaction in which a security interest is or will be retained or
acquired in a consumer's principalelling, each consumer whose ownership
interest is or will be subject to the setyinterest shall have the right to rescind
the transaction, except for transactions descrin paragraph (Hf this section...

rya
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(3) The consumer may exercise the rigghtescind until midnight of the third
business day following consummatiatelivery of the notice required by
paragraph (b) of this section, or delivery of all material disclosures, whichever
occurs last. If the required notice or miekdisclosures are not delivered, the

right to rescind shall expir@ years after consummation, upon transfer of all of the
consumer's interest in the propertyupon sale of the property, whichever occurs
first. In the case of certain adminigive proceedings, the rescission period shall
be extended in accordance with section 125(f) of the Act.

12 C.F.R. § 226.23(a)(3); 15 UCS.8 1635(a) and (f).

The subject note and deed afdr were executed on July 6, 20aBkt. 1-1. Allegations in

the Complaint assert that TILA was violated in mebg@® the original loan. Dkt. 1-1. This case

was filed on October 28, 2011, over five years lakdr. Plaintiffs’ TILA claims, asserted
against all Defendants, should be dismissed asdbdy the statue of limitations. Their motio
to file an amended complaint, in order to restai® claim, should be denied as futile. The Cg¢
need not reach Defendants’ remainingusments on Plaintiffs’ TILA claims.

C. RESPA CLAIM

“Congress enacted the Real Estate SettleRPmtedures Act in 1974 to protect consume
from abusive practices in mortgage closing3ohnson v. Wells Fargo Home Mortg., Inc., 635
F.3d 401, 417 (9th Cir. 2011). Plaintiffs asseat thefendants violated 12 U.S.C. § 2601, wh
provides that RESPA was passaainsure that consumersrtiughout the Nation are provided
with greater and more timely information on théuna and costs of the settlement process ar
are protected from unnecessatilgh settlement charges.”

Plaintiffs’ RESPA claim, to the extent thiats asserted against the moving Defendants,
should be dismissed. Plaintiffs make allegations regardingahginal loan, but do not disput
that these Defendants were notalved in that transaction. Plaintiffs have failed to pleaded
factual allegations which would “plausibly giviee to an entitlement to relief” under RESPA

against Litton, Ocwen, or Wells Fargo (tbervicers), or MERS or HSBC Bank.

N
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Although Plaintiffs’ response does make refeeettca “qualified written request” they
allegedly directed to Ocwen, KD 12), Plaintiffs’ Complaint mkes no mention of it. To the
extent that Plaintiffs appear to base ti&SPA claim on the allegan that MERS does not
have a beneficial interest ihe note, their claim should beschissed. Plaintiffs offer no
authority for their contention that MERS waghwut authority to make the assignments of
which they complain. Plaintiffs are merelyeanpting to state a lebeonclusion, without any
reasoning to support such a conclusion. Thiei$&s been repeatedly raised and rejected by
several courts in this districDooms v. Cal-Western Reconveyance Corp. of Washington, 2011
WL 5592760 (W.D. Wash. 2011hodes v. HSBC Bank USA N.A,, 2011 WL 3159100 (W.D.
Wash. 2011)Daddabbo v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc., 2010 WL 2102485 (W.D. Wash.
2010);Vawter v. Quality Loan Service Corp. of Washington, 707 F.Supp.2d 1115, 1125-1126
(W.D. Wash. 2010). This Court agsewith the reasoning set foiththose cases. Further, as
pointed out irRhodes, in exchange for the loan on theperty, Mr. Treece signed the note and
deed of trust which provided underlying secufdythe obligation duender the note. He
agreed that MERS had the auihoto act as a beneficiarynder the deed of trust — “such
authority was explicitly granted by Plaififis upon execution of the instrumentRhodes, at 4.
In this case, Mr. Treece “specifically agreedMBRS' role as beneficiary under the deed of
trust” he signed and agreed that MERS could agtsgimterests, in whole an part, and that the
Note could be soldld. Plaintiffs fail to alege a “cognizable legal theory” under which they
would be entitled to relief under RESP#nd the RESPA claim should be dismissBdlistreri,
at 699.

To the extent that Plaintiffs move to and their Complaint to add a RESPA claim, the

motion should be denied withoptejudice. Plaintiffs failed to file a proposed amended
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complaint, and so the Court was unable tormeitee whether Plaintiffanew allegations would
be sufficient to entitle them to relief under RESPA.

D. QUIET TITLE CLAIM

In Washington, a plaintiff in a quiet title actiomust set forth in the coplaint the nature of
their “estate, claim or title to the propertydathe defendant may s a legal or equitable

defense to plaintiff's claims; and the superioetitvthether legal or egable, shall prevail.”

RCW 7.25.120.
Defendants argue that Plaintiffs can nateta claim against them for “quiet title”
because they do not have a competing ownerdaim on the property. Dkt. 10. Plaintiffs do

not meaningfully respond. Further, a quidétclaim against a mortgagee requires that a
mortgagor is the rightful owner of the propeihat is, that the mortgagor has paid an
outstanding debt secured by the mortgagee Kelley v. Mers, Inc., 642 F.Supp. 2d 1048, 105]
(N.D. Cal. 2009)Evansv. BAC Home Loans Servicing LP, 2010 WL 5138394 at #3 (W.D.
Wash. 2010). Plaintiffs here fail tdlege that they have padide outstanding debt secured by
mortgage. Their claim for quigitle against the moving Dafédants should be dismissed.
Further, because it is unclear what allegatioasmiffs intend to make against these Defendd
regarding a quiet title claim, ¢ir motion for leave to file an amended complaint to attempt t
restate this claim should berded without prejudice.

E. CONCLUSION

Plaintiffs have failed to state any claims thakthat are plausible otheir face against thes
Defendants.Igbal, at 1949. Further, Plaintiffs’ motido amend their Complaint to allege a
TILA claim should be denied aisis barred by the statute of litations. Plaintiffs’ motion to

file an amended complaint should be denied witlpwejudice as to their remaining claims.
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[1l.  ORDER
Defendants Litton Loan Servicing L.P., BS Bank USA, National Association, as
Indenture Trustee of the Fieldstone M@age Investment Trust, Series 2006-3

(erroneously sued as HSBC Bank USA, N@®gwen Loan Servicing (erroneously sue

j®N

as Ocwen Mortgage Company), Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., and

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association,Master Servicer's Motion to Dismiss
Plaintiffs’ Complaint (Dkt. 10)S GRANTED;

Plaintiffs’ claims against Defendants latt Loan Servicing L.P., HSBC Bank USA,
National Association, as Indenture Truste¢hef Fieldstone Mortgagavestment Trust,
Series 2006-3 (erroneously sued aBBBank USA, NA), Ocwen Loan Servicing
(erroneously sued as Ocwen Mortgagenpany), Mortgage Electronic Registration
Systems, Inc., and Wells Fargo Bank, Naél Association, as Master ServiédRE
DISMISSED;

Plaintiffs’ motion for leave t@amend their Complaint (Dkt. 125 DENIED as to their

TILA claim andDENIED WITHOUT PREJUDICE as to their RESPA claim and quiet

title claim.

The Clerk is directed to send uncertified copéthis Order to all counsel of record an

to any party appearing o se at said party’sast known address.

Dated this 17th day of January, 2012.

folbTE e

ROBERT J. BRYAN
United States District Judge

d
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